Characteristics of urban green space (UGS) to promote the diversity of users in a compact urban development

MALIHEH GHORBANZADEH BAHADORI JULY 2022

SUPERVISORS: Dr. J.A. Martinez Dr. M. Madureira

# Characteristics of urban green space to promote the diversity of users in a compact urban development

### MALIHEH GHORBANZADEH BAHADORI Enschede, The Netherlands, July 2022

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation.

Specialization: Urban planning and management

SUPERVISORS: Dr. J.A. Martinez Dr. M. Madureira

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: Prof.dr. K. Pfeffer (Chair) Dr.ir. Wendy Tan (External Examiner, Wageningen University and Research )



### DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

### ABSTRACT

Urban green spaces, namely public urban parks, provide a range of physical and psychological wellbeing benefits for urban residents but often remain unused or under-used by a portion of the population. Especially in a compact urban development where land is scarce and developing new urban green space can be challenging, diverse users must use the valuable allocated land to urban parks to its fullest potential. This thesis aims to identify the characteristics of urban green space in a compact urban form and its surrounding neighborhood that promote diversity of users. The socio-ecological model(Schipperijn, 2010) was applied to conceptualize the factors of urban parks and surrounding neighborhoods influencing urban park use. The fifth dimension of neighborhood environment with function-mix, active travel, and public transportation was added to the model to adapt the model to this thesis. The study applies structured observation in two urban parks in Amsterdam's compact neighborhoods, and the diversity of the users was defined as users of different genders and ages. The result revealed that multifunctional areas in the parks attract more diverse users. Multifunctionality can be promoted by: a) placing a range of functions simultaneously within the same area or by b) spatial segregation of functions in one zone. Also, the findings indicate the synergy between the arrangement of activities in the park and the surrounding neighborhood's land use and transportation offered unique activity chances. The active park use was promoted by better access to public transportation and walking/ cycling infrastructure in Oosterpark, and sports fields and broad walking pathways supported the possibility of active park use. The framework developed in this study provides a holistic overview of factors influencing the use of urban parks in compact development, and the findings provide an empirical understanding of such factors. This study highlights the need for collaboration between different disciplines, including urban planning, landscape design, and related fields, to pursue a common goal of appreciating the fullest potential of urban parks by promoting the diversity of users.

Keywords: Urban green space, urban park, diversity of users, age, gender

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I am grateful to the faculty of ITC and the ITC excellence scholarship for the generous financial support that made it possible to study in the Netherlands. It was the best experience of my life, and I cherish it greatly. I express my respect and gratitude to my dear supervisors, Dr. Javier Martinez and Dr. Mafalda Madureira, whose assistance, patience, and knowledge helped me immensely. They taught me to think critically and gave me the freedom to pursue my interest. Last but not least, I want to thank my parents and brother for sending me love and moral support overseas. I'm grateful for my partner, who supports me in every possible way. I want to show my respect to my partner's parents, who made me feel at home away from my family; this journey wouldn't have been the same without my loved ones. This document is the result of the past nine months of my life; it was a pleasure working with my supervisors on this topic. I hope you enjoy reading it.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introd	luction	7
	1.1.	Background and justification	7
	1.2.	Research problem	8
	1.3.	Research objectives	9
	1.4.	Thesis structure	9
2.	Litera	ture review	. 10
	2.1.	Urban green space	. 10
	2.2.	Compact urban development	. 10
	2.3.	Urban green space in a compact urban development	. 10
	2.4.	Summary	. 12
3.	Meth	odology	. 13
	3.1.	Overall methodology	. 13
	3.2.	Study area	. 14
	3.3.	Methodology framework	. 19
	3.4.	Data and data collection	. 21
	3.5.	Data collection: structured observation	. 21
	3.6.	Data analysis	. 24
	3.7.	Summary	. 25
4.	Result	s and discussion	. 26
	4.1.	Users of urban green space	. 26
	4.2.	Use of the urban park	. 28
	4.3.	Users diversity by age and gender in urban parks	. 39
5.	Concl	usion and recommendation	. 43
	5.1.	Reflection on research objectives and questions	. 43
	5.2.	Academic and social contributions	. 44
	5.3.	Limitations	. 44
	5.4.	Recommendations for future studies	. 45

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Methodology flowchart
Figure 2:Amsterdam as the study area14
Figure 3: three candidates parks for case studies, from which Erasmuspark and Oosterpark were studied 15
Figure 4: Erasmus park entrances. Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam(van de Haagen et al., 2013)15
Figure 5: Erasmuspark surrounded by two water canals and two streets source: https://earth.google.com/ 15
Figure 6: parts of Erasmuspark
Figure 7: Erasmuspark waterbodies, character, accessibility17
Figure 9: Oosterpark and surrounding streets Source: httpt://earth.google.com/17
Figure 8: Oosterpark entrances ,Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam(van de Haagen et al., 2013)17
Figure 10: Oosterpark
Figure 11: Oosterpark waterbodies, character, accessibility19
Figure 12: Socio-ecological model to understand factors influencing use of urban park
Figure 13: Socio-ecological model to understand factors influencing use of urban green space
Figure 14: paper-based observation sheet using by(Mehta & Mahato, 2021)22
Figure 15:observasion sheet in paper-based observation pilot study23
Figure 16: elements used in the sketch and corresponding meaning
Figure 17: one example of sketches drawn in the analysis for one of the areas that was highlighted25
Figure 18: Function mix in 10-minute walking distance around the two parks Source:
https://data.amsterdam.nl/
Figure 19:Gender-activity profile of Oosterpark users
Figure 20: Gender-activity profile of Erasmuspark users
Figure 21: the main path of the Oosterpark and it's connection to the cycling infrastructure
Figure 22: walking/cycling network, tram/bus network in 500 meters buffer zones around the parks, Source:
https://data.amsterdam.nl/
Figure 23:Age group-activity profile of Oosterpark users
Figure 24: Age group-activity profile of Erasmuspark users
Figure 25:observed users by age in Oosterpark
Figure 26:Observed users by age in Erasmuspark

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:Source and details of database	21
Table 2: Environmental characteristics of male-dominated areas in two parks	
Table 3:Environmental characteristics of female-dominated areas in two parks	
Table 4:environmental characteristics of gender-mixed areas in two parks	
Table 5:area-gender-age matrix of Erasmuspark	
Table 6:area-gender-age matrix of Oosterpark	

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

UGS = Urban Green Space

# 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. Background and justification

The accelerated urbanization and rapid worldwide population growth expose many people to urban environments. Worldwide, the percentage of urban residents will reach 70% by 2050 (United Nations, 2014). The considerable migration to the cities, expansion, and densification highlight the urgent need for sustainable urban development. To achieve that aim, the United Nation's sustainable development goal 11 sets the broad ambition to "Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable." However, because of the multidimensionality of sustainable development, each dimension may move forward individually, developing friction and contradictions with other dimensions (Bibri et al., 2020). One of the unclear areas is the interaction between the goals of the compact city and the green city (Giezen et al., 2018), which is known as the "compact city paradox" (de Roo, 2000; Neuman, 2005).

Compact urban development is one of the most promising sustainable urbanism paradigms (Bibri, 2020). It limits urban development from sprawl and encourages densification, mixed land use, public transportation, and active travel. Compact development encourages reducing travel time and car dependency, mitigating air pollution by promoting active travel and public transportation, lowering building material use, facilitating the provision of various service facilities, and diversity of land use and social contact (Jabareen, 2006; Næss et al., 2011; Neutens et al., 2013a) However, some drawbacks are associated with dense, compact urban development; namely, congestion, air pollution, overuse of infrastructure, small-space dwellings, and unaffordable housing (Burton, 2000; Burton et al., 2003; Wolff & Haase, 2019). One of the essential criticisms of compact urban development is lacking or removing urban green areas during the compacting process (Artmann et al., 2019; Næss et al., 2020). At the same time, urban green space is one of the cities' essential sustainability elements.

Urban green spaces (UGS), as Taylor & Hochuli (2017, page 32) defined, are "urban parks, including public parks, street verges, cemeteries, and sports grounds." The benefits of UGS for human well-being are well documented; there is a general agreement that urban green positively influences the quality of life (Andersson et al., 2014; Artmann et al., 2017; Niemelä, 2014) and provides various ecosystem services for urban residents. Ecosystem services refer to humans' benefits from the ecosystem (Bolund & Hunhammar, 1999). UGS has various physical and mental health benefits for urban residents. It contributes to physical health by boosting "green exercise" such as walking and physical activity (Pretty et al., 2003), lowering the mortality rate (Takano et al., 2002), and increasing the survival of the elderly (Hu et al., 2008). Also, access to UGS positively influences self-reported stress and anxiety (Space, 2005; Stigsdotter et al., 2010; Van den Berg et al., 2010), improving feeling and safety (Kuo et al., 1998; Mouratidis, 2019), and happiness (White et al., 2013). Additionally, UGS contributes to health and well-being by reducing or mitigating environmental pollution (Markevych et al., 2017). Areas around UGS have fewer air pollutants (Hirabayashi & Nowak, 2016; McDonald et al., 2016). UGS reduces noise pollution's acoustic and psychological harm by physically reducing noise exposure and mitigating the stress of noise (Van Renterghem et al., 2015). Recently, Covid 19 pandemic highlighted the potential of UGS in boosting urban residents' mental health. Xie et al. (2020) and Ugolini et al. (2020) indicated that UGS was found to be significant during the Covid-19 pandemic to mitigate the negative implication for health and well-being. Urban residents used UGS extensively because of less infection risk for leisure and physical activities. Finnsson (2020) has noted that the pandemics revealed the importance of access to urban green space, and it should be considered in future planning, design, and development of UGS.

UGS also fosters social cohesion, which refers to a positive connection between members of a society and feeling accepted in a group (de Vries et al., 2013; Forrest & Kearns, 2001). In a study in The Netherlands, urban parks were a valuable tool for stimulating interaction between different ethnic groups (Peters et al., 2010). In a study in Baltimore, the United States, Holtan, et al. (2015) found that tree canopy and social capital are positively related in neighborhoods. The reason derives from the increased use of sidewalks and outdoor spaces with trees. Also, higher levels of tree canopy fostered a sense of mystery that encourages walkers around the corner of the next block to meet their neighbors (Holtan et al., 2015).

Considering the essential benefits of urban green space for urban residents' including health, wellbeing, and social cohesion, and the significant contribution of UGS to spatial sustainability, it is worthy of addressing the provision of UGS in compact urban development.

#### 1.2. Research problem

Despite the enormous amount of money governments invest in park management and the apparent welldesigned spaces, many parks are under-utilized or used by a minority of the population (Azmi & Karim, 2012; Moulay et al., 2017; Neutens et al., 2013b, 2013a; Peters et al., 2010; Van Riper & Kyle, 2014; Zanon et al., 2013). One of the significant sustainability goals set by SDG11, Target 11.7, is "to provide universal access to safe, inclusive and accessible, green and public spaces, in particular for women and children, older persons and persons with disabilities"(UN-Habitat, 2020, page 45). Thus, under-utilized UGS or used by only specific groups of users means that parks will not be appreciated to their fullest potential. This issue is even more critical in a compact development because of the scarcity and value of the land.

In the compact urban form, all urban elements such as buildings, infrastructure, green areas, and mixed-land uses are close and compete for limited land (Burton et al., 2003). Moreover, the imperviousness ratio is higher because of the artificial material and buildings (Arnold & Gibbons, 1996). The limited space left for vegetation growth is exposed to environmental pollution due to urbanization (Tian et al., 2012a). Hence, the inevitable scarcity of land in compact, dense development can put pressure on UGS and may result in loss of green space or a decline in its provision (Haaland & van den Bosch, 2015; Neuman, 2005). Changes in UGS through the compact process reveal a massive decrease in the quantity of UGS in Asian and Australian cities, and to a lesser degree, in Europe and North American cities (Haaland & van den Bosch, 2015). The densification in Amsterdam and Brussels placed pressure on UGS, resulting in reduced quality, connectivity, and size of urban green areas in both cities. However, in an analysis of green space in European cities between 1990 and 2006, the Western European cities showed an increase in UGS while Eastern cities decreased UGS, and overall compact cities maintained less green space per capita (Kabisch & Haase, 2013).

The limited quantity of UGS in compact development can be compensated for by using it by all possible users. As Beer, Delshammar, and Schildwacht suggest, in the context of compact, dense development, the needs of all the users of UGS should be considered (2003). UGS not being used means that some health and social cohesion benefits will not be obtained. In UN-Habitat's New Urban Agenda, attention to all user's needs and inclusive urban green space has also been pointed out. It emphasizes "safe, inclusive, accessible, green and quality public spaces" (UN-Habitat, 2017, page 5, 15). It encourages creating societies" where the needs of all inhabitants are met, recognizing the specific needs of those in vulnerable situations" (UN-Habitat, 2017, page5). Also, section 37 encourages the promotion of public spaces such as inclusive parks that enable "dialogue among a wide diversity of people and cultures" (UN-Habitat, 2017, page 15). The WHO stresses "universal access" to urban green space for all population groups and users, and the design of UGS, which "facilitates activities by all population groups" (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2017, page 11). Considering the significant potential of UGS, access and use of UGS become an essential measure of equity for a diverse group of urban residents (Mehta & Mahato, 2020). Therefore, examining UGS, especially in compact urban developments, can provide insights into the use of urban parks by different user groups and potentially facilitate the access of more users to the health and social benefits of UGS.

The use of green space is influenced by individual factors such as age, ethnicity and education, and physical ability (e.g., Galloway, 2002; Payne et al., 2002; Roovers et al., 2002) and environmental and physical factors such as distance, size, facilities, and possibilities for activities and social and cultural conditions (e.g., Coles & Bussey, 2000; Kaczynski et al., 2008; Van Herzele & Wiedemann, 2003). Despite significant research on the use of UGS and factors influencing the use of UGS (Pinto et al., 2021; Schipperijn, 2010; Schipperijn, Ekholm, et al., 2010a), less research has been focused on the uses of the diversity of users of UGS (Mehta & Mahato, 2020b; Taylor et al., 2020). At the same time, several studies indicated that UGS mostly fails to foster the use and need of diverse user groups. (Byrne, 2012; Forsyth & Musacchio, 2005; Loukaitou-Sideris, 1995). Accordingly, this study aims to understand the characteristics of UGS and surrounding neighborhoods in a compact urban development that optimizes the diversity of users that use a UGS.

#### 1.3. Research objectives

#### 1.3.1. General objective

The main aim of this thesis is to understand the characteristics of UGS and surrounding neighborhoods in a compact urban development that optimize the diversity of users.

#### 1.3.2. Specific objectives

# 1) Understanding the interaction between the concepts of urban green space and compact urban development.

- 1. What is urban green space?
- 2. What is a compact urban development?
- 3. How do UGS and compact urban development interact?

# 2) Conceptualizing the use and users of urban green space in the context of compact urban development.

- 1. What factors affect the use of UGS?
- 2. What factors in the surrounding neighborhood of UGS affect the use of UGS?
- 3. How does compact development affect the use and users of UGS?

#### 3) Explain the characteristics of urban green spaces that promote the diversity of users.

- 1. Who are the users of urban green space?
- 2. How do the users use urban green space?
- 3. How do the characteristics of urban green space and the surrounding neighborhood promote the diversity of its users?

#### 1.4. Thesis structure

The structure of the thesis is as explained below:

Chapter 1, the introduction, provides the background, justification, the research problem, objectives, and research questions.

Chapter 2, the literature review, defines the concepts of UGS and compact development. Also, relevant literature about the use of UGS and compact urban development is reviewed.

Chapter 3, methodology, presents the overall methodology and study area, introducing the two urban parks as case studies, database and data collection methods, and data analysis methods.

Chapter 4, results, and discussion, includes the results, discussion of the results, and interpretations.

Chapter 5, conclusion and recommendation, discusses the study's contributions and limitations and provides recommendations for further research.

# 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This section first defines urban green space and compact urban development. Also, the relevant research on the use of urban green space and contributing factors are reviewed.

#### 2.1. Urban green space

Urban green space (UGS) refers to surfaces of the urban environment with vegetation such as grass, trees, shrubs, etc. (Vargas-Hernández et al., 2020). Santos et al. (2021) refer to the areas within the urban fabric with vegetation as urban green space, such as urban parks, lawns, street trees, private or public gardens, cemeteries, sports fields, and green walls and roofs. Hence, UGS is a broad concept encompassing all areas with vegetation in the urban fabric, but this thesis will solely focus on urban public parks. Urban public parks are open to the public, located in urban or suburban communities, with the purpose of civic benefit to users from the general public (Public Park | The Cultural Landscape Foundation, 2020).

#### 2.2. Compact urban development

The compact urban development appeared to react to the urban sprawl in the suburbs after the second world war (Tong, 2018). The environmental, social, and economic problems associated with urban sprawl (United Nations, 2018) have made compact urban development a sustainable model for future urban development (Cortinovis et al., 2019). The compact urban development is characterized by high density, mixed land use, public transportation, walking, and cycling (Rogatka and Ribeiro, 2015). Mixed land use and high density bring high accessibility to housing, jobs, public spaces, service, and facilities. Also, a compact urban development provides efficient use of public transportation and active travel (walking and cycling), reduces travel time by shorter distances, and overall reduces car dependency (Jabareen, 2006; Næss et al., 2020; Rogatka & Ribeiro, 2015).

#### 2.3. Urban green space in a compact urban development

Literature on urban green space in a compact urban development has several themes. Several attempts have been made to formulate the challenges of providing urban green space under compact development (e.g., Haaland & van den Bosch, 2015; Madureira & Monteiro, 2021; Russo & Cirella, 2018; Tian et al., 2012). Other studies focused on strategies and policy developments to overcome such challenges (e.g., Madureira & Monteiro, 2021). Other literature delved into understanding the use of UGS and dimensions associated with compact development (e.g., Crawford et al., 2008; Kaczynski et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2017; McCormack et al., 2010; Parra et al., 2010; Peschardt et al., 2012; Schipperijn, Ekholm, et al., 2010; Schipperijn, Stigsdotter, et al., 2010; Sundevall & Jansson, 2020). The flowing sections detail the studies mentioned above.

#### 2.3.1. Challenges and Strategies of going green and compact

The main two groups of UGS strategies in compact urban development address: a) developing new UG sites and b) preserving and improving the existing ones (Jim, 2004). In developing a new urban green area, Jim (2013) suggests thinking out of the box and embracing novel approaches. A diverse number of alternative vegetation strategies have been proposed for compact cities, including vegetation attached to or integrated with buildings, including garden balconies, green roofs, vegetation on the wire above streets, green facades, and edible green walls (Delshammar, 2014; Russo et al., 2017; Whittinghill & Rowe, 2012). In preserving and improving the existing green space, several strategies are also proposed, such as optimizing

the geometry and connectivity of green space patches, improving the biodiversity of UGS (Jim, 2013), enhancing the multifunctionality of UGS in terms of the capacity of UGS in the provision of various ecosystems services and functions (Hansen et al., 2019a). It has been noted(Balikçi et al., 2021) that densification and compact development reduce UGS quantity and degrade the quality. Hence, one of the crucial strategies for existing green spaces is enhancing UGS quality to compensate for the limited quantity. Also, in terms of the capacity of UGS in the provision of various ecosystem services and functions, multifunction UGS was proposed as one way of high-quality UGS in densified cities (Beer et al., 2003; Haaland & van den Bosch, 2015; Hansen et al., 2019a).

#### 2.3.2. Factors affecting the use of UGS in the context of compact city

Studies on UGS and factors affecting the use of UGS focus on two broad groups of variables; variables related to users as individual characteristics and physical and environmental variables related to UGS and surrounding neighbourhoods which is not exclusively to the context of the compact urban development but relate to elements that associate with it.

The physical and environmental variables contributing to the use of urban parks can be put into different themes. One theme of the study focuses on the perceived environment of the urban parks, such as accessibility to urban parks, quality of urban parks, attractiveness, and safety. Accessibility to an urban park indicates the level of services each park offers regarding its spatial distribution (Lee & Hong, 2013). Accessibility to the park is a multidimensional concept that can relate to the distance and proximity of residents' houses to the park and the quantity and quality of the park's amenities (Chang et al., 2019a; Wang et al., 2021). Distance to a park has been noted as one of the fundamental factors affecting its use; when traveling distance increases, the park use decreases (Liu et al., 2017; Schipperijn, Stigsdotter, et al., 2010; Tu et al., 2020). Also, the quality of urban parks regarding landscape, facilities, and vegetation affects their use (Mao et al., 2022). It's been noted that all users appreciate high-quality parks regarding cleanliness, lack of litter, and sense of maintenance (Shams & Barker, 2019).

The other theme of the literature focuses on the elements of the parks' surrounding neighborhood in relation to park use. Elements include walking, cycling, active travel (Liang et al., 2017), and public transportation (Chen & Chang, 2015; Liang & Zhang, 2018; Lu et al., 2014). In a recent study in Hong Kong, Chang et al. (2019b) measured urban park accessibility for every housing state with different transportation modes (walking, bus, mass transit railways). They found that public transportation shortened the travel time to urban parks for all residents and increased its use.

Land use mix has also been associated with park use. The contribution of a study in Boston, Cincinnati is that access to various land uses in the walkable distance from home to the park increases the park use of the children and their physical activity (Rosenberg et al., 2009). This is supported by another study in Bogotá that found that land-use diversity in the surrounding neighborhood of a park promotes the active park use of older adults (Parra et al., 2010). Also, (Huang et al., 2020) found a positive link between land use mix and children's park use and park-based physical activity in New York City. The result of another study indicates an association between built-environment density and park use (Fry et al., 2021).

The second research group focuses on the users and their individual features in park use. User's age has been noted as an essential factor affecting park use (Galloway, 2002b; Laatikainen et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2017; Ode Sang et al., 2016; Payne et al., 2002a; Schipperijn, Stigsdotter, et al., 2010).

Several studies have investigated the ability of UGS to provide suitable environments for specific age groups, such as children (Jansson et al., 2016) and the elderly (Parra et al., 2010; Zhang, 2017). However, we know little about park use considering different user groups, the differences and similarities between their use pattern, and how UGS can afford various user groups (Jansson et al., 2016). Only one recent study in a park in central Landskrona, Sweden, by Sundevall & Jansson (2020) has investigated the environmental affordances of an inclusive urban park for different age groups. This study approaches the age-inclusive parks with the concept of multifunctionality and environmental affordances (possibilities for actions). The

results indicate that social multifunctionality for various age groups is obtainable since different users enjoy having people around them because of liveliness and safety. Also, the study indicates the importance of developing various environmental features to offer various affordances, such as lively and quiet places (Sundevall & Jansson, 2020). However, the study and study area are not in the context of a compact city and overlook some elements that have been found significant by other studies for affecting the use of urban parks, such as gender, dominating male participants in the study.

User's gender has also been noted as a contributing factor influencing urban parks' use (Derose et al., 2018; Ode Sang et al., 2016). In a study in low-income neighborhoods in Los Angles, women reported fewer and shorter durations of park visits (Derose et al., 2018). Moreover, gender has been linked to the perception of safety in urban parks in a study in Poland by Polko & Kimic (2022). The authors indicate a considerable difference between male and female respondents who felt less safe than male respondents in the same urban park. Also, they highlight the need for more gender-inclusive urban parks (Polko & Kimic, 2022b).

#### 2.4. Summary

This chapter reviews relevant concepts regarding UGS, compact urban development, and UGS use. The primary identified components related to the use of UGS and factors affecting it are accessibility, quality of facilities, safety as characteristics related to the perceived environment, land-use mix, walking, cycling, and public transportation as characteristics of the surrounding neighborhood, individual features of the users such as age, gender, ethnicity.

# 3. METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1. Overall methodology

This study aims to provide insights into characteristics of urban green space, namely urban parks in compact developments, which promote diversity of users. Cross-sectional research was applied. A cross-sectional research design collects data on more than one case study at a specific time. Two urban parks were chosen for this thesis, and the quantitative and qualitative data were collected and analyzed to answer the research questions. The cross-sectional research design (Bryman, 2012b; Yin, 2009) allows us to empirically analyze the characteristics of urban parks and the surrounding environment that allow the diverse population to use the park. Figure 1 shows the overall methodology flowchart.



#### 3.2. Study area

According to the aim of the study, the study area should contain an urban park in a compact neighborhood. Amsterdam in the Netherlands (as shown in figure 2) was selected because it has a long compact city planning experience (Westerink et al., 2013). According to Gemeente of Amsterdam's Structural vision Amsterdam 2040 (Dienst Ruimtelijke Ordening, 2011), Amsterdammers love greenery and water, and the figures of visitors to green spaces in the city have doubled over the past ten years. A largescale survey into the green wishes of Amsterdammers showed that for half of them, the greenery in the neighborhood is an essential condition when choosing a place to live or establish a business. Also, "parks to study or work in" have grown in Amsterdammer's online search history (Dienst Ruimtelijke Ordening, 2011).

Another section of structural vision Amsterdam 2040 noted that Amsterdammers want greenery in their street, a well-usable park within walking distance of the house, and a large green area within cycling distance of the house. Each green element must meet high-quality requirements and offer users many possibilities. With the further densification of the city, the pressure on the use of the parks will increase; hence, the investment in parks' quality and attracting a diverse population becomes more important (Dienst Ruimtelijke Ordening, 2011).



Study area: Amsterdam

The Netherlands provinces

Amsterdam boundary

Figure 2: Amsterdam as the study area

#### 3.2.1. Park selection

The criteria for urban park selection are ownership, size, and surrounding neighborhood characteristics. Private UGSs such as private backyards and gardens, roof gardens, courtyards, and balconies, were excluded because they do not welcome a broad group of users. This study will focus on public-owned urban parks. Another aspect is the size of the urban park. Public parks vary according to size and their facilities; mini-parks with an area size of less than 2 ha, neighborhood parks with an area size between 2 to 8 ha, community parks (8 to 40 ha), and larger parks, including district parks, regional or metropolitan parks, and natural parks (Forsyth and Musacchio, 2005, Han et al., 2013). This study will focus on neighborhood parks because developing a small park in a compact development is less challenging than finding space for a larger one. Also, mini-parks often have limited possibilities for activity and facilities, so neighborhood parks are ideal candidates for this thesis.

After carefully examining Amsterdam's parks based on their size and compact neighborhood, Erasmuspark and Oosterpark were selected. Figure 3 shows their location within Amsterdam.



#### Amsterdam parks and public green

Figure 3: three candidates parks for case studies, from which Erasmuspark and Oosterpark were studied.

#### 3.2.1.1. Erasmuspark

Erasmuspark is in the west of Amsterdam in "Bos en Lommer" neighborhood, on "Jan van Galenstraat", between "Admiralengracht" and "Hooftweg" as shown in figure 5. Egbert Mos in 1957 designed the park with inspiration from Mondrian paintings (Carey, 2013). The park has an area of 9-hectare, designed with straight lines, rectangular beds, and rows of trees. The park has five entrances shown in fig.4; entrances number 1 and 5 are the main entrances, number 2 and 4 lead to a walking path along the water bodies surrounding the park, and entrance number three leads to a bridge over the "Erasmusgeracht" channel and into the park.



Figure 4: Erasmus park entrances. Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam(van de Haagen et al., 2013)



Figure 5: Erasmuspark surrounded by two water canals and two streets source: https://earth.google.com/

The park has one open lawn and a smaller one with dog restrictions, a forest-like vegetation area, a "Miracle Garden", a kiosk café called "Terrasmus," sports equipment, a playground, and walking paths (See fig.6).



Figure 6: parts of Erasmuspark. 1: layout, 2: lawn, 3: seating areas, 4: Terrasmus café , 5: playground , 6: pathaways, 7: Miracle garden

Erasmuspark is an island surrounded by water bodies and has an open character. The park is accessible by bicycle from two entrances. Also, there are two tram and bus stations within 5- and 7-minutes of walking to the park (See fig. 7).



Figure 7: Erasmuspark waterbodies, character, accessibility. 1:the park is an island surrounded by water (color blue is waterbodies), 2: the park has an open character (the color dark green is dense vegetation and color blue is water bodies) 3:connection of the park to cycling infrastructure 4: connection of the park to street network and the closest public transportation stops (yellow dots are bus and tram stops).Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam (van de Haagen et al., 2013)

#### 3.2.1.2. Oosterpark

Oosterpark is located east of Amsterdam in the neighborhood called "Oosterparkbuurt," with a 23 hectares area. It has direct access from "Linnaeusstraat" and "Oosterparkstraat," "s-Gravesandestraat," as shown in figure 8. The park has ten entrances from which entrance numbers 5, 6, and 7, visible in fig. 9, were added in a recent renovation. It was designed by landscape architect Leonard Anthony Springer and constructed in 1891(van de Haagen et al., 2013).



Figure 8: Oosterpark and surrounding streets Source: httpt://earth.google.com/



Figure 9: Oosterpark entrances ,Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam(van de Haagen et al., 2013)



The Oosterpark consists of a large lawn, sports field, playgrounds, multiple plazas, and etc. (see fig10)

Figure 10: Oosterpark. 1: Layout of the park, 2: performing area, 3:water plaza, 4: Hotel Plaza, 5: pathway, 6: lawn, 7:playgroud

Oosterpark has a central water body and an open character. The park is accessible by bicycle from all the entrances. Also, three tram and bus stations are in the park's immediate vicinity (See figure 11).



Figure 11: Oosterpark waterbodies, character, accessibility. 1: the proportion of waterbody to the whole park, 2: the park has an open character, dark green are areas with dense vegetation, 3) connection of the park to cycling infrastructure 4: connection of the park to street network and the closest public transportation stops(yellow dots are bus and tram stops). Source: Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam(van de Haagen et al., 2013)

#### 3.3. Methodology framework

To achieve objective 2 of this thesis, namely "Conceptualizing the use and users of urban green space in the context of compact urban development based on literature," several pieces of literature were reviewed. This section summarizes the findings in the literature review and provides a model to explain the use and users of urban green space in the context of compact development and support the data collection and analysis. I found the socio-ecological model helpful in understanding the use of urban parks. This model has been used vastly to estimate human behavior in related fields such as leisure research (Raymore, 2017) and active living research (Sallis et al., 2006), and physical activity research (Owen et al., 2004). Also, in the field of urban green space, Schipperijn (2010) applied the model in a Danish context. Due to the environmental and social similarities between the Dutch and Danish contexts, this model was applied for this thesis. This model explains the use of UGS with four dimensions, as shown in figure 12; individual factors, perceived environment, behavior, and physical environment.



Figure 12: Socio-ecological model to understand factors influencing use of urban park. Adopted from (Schipperijn, 2010)

19

Individual factors refer to features related to the users. Several studies have found that the use of urban green space is affected by the age of the users (Galloway, 2002b; Laatikainen et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2017; Ode Sang et al., 2016; Payne et al., 2002a; Schipperijn, Stigsdotter, et al., 2010), gender (Derose et al., 2018; Ode Sang et al., 2016), health in terms of disabilities(Perry et al., 2021; Wojnowska-Heciak et al., 2022), ethnicity (Mohamad Muslim et al., 2018), and education (Jan, 2010; Van Riper & Kyle, 2014). In this thesis, diversity of users means users with different individual features, as mentioned above. Since the scope of the thesis cannot cover all the individual factors in the socio-ecological model, age and gender will be considered.

Perceived environment means factors such as quality of urban green space, quality of facilities, the sense of safety, accessibility of urban green space, and comfort of use (Schipperijn, 2010). The importance of accessibility to parks for encouraging park use is regardless of age, gender, or ethnicity (McCormack et al., 2010).

The behavior dimension implies how users use the urban green space. Aspects such as the activity users perform, the duration of the park visit, the frequency, and whether the users are in groups or alone are essential (Schipperijn, 2010). But, in this thesis, only the activity users perform will be considered.

The physical environment entails two dimensions; the park and the surrounding environment. In the park's physical environment, factors such as size, distance to the park, the character of the park in terms of close or open character, routes and pathways, and type of facilities and possibilities of activities are essential.

Since this thesis aims to study urban parks in compact urban development, the neighborhood factors will also be added to the socio-ecological model, mixed land use, public transportation, density, and active travel. Hence, the adopted model is customized, and colors will be added to differentiate the various dimensions of the model visually; Figure 13 presents the new model for this study.



Figure 13: Socio-ecological model to understand factors influencing use of urban green space. Adapted from (Schipperijn, 2010)

#### 3.4. Data and data collection

This thesis used primary and secondary data to carry out the research. The secondary data were mainly obtained from Amsterdam's data portal <sup>1</sup> belonging to the Municipality of Amsterdam. Primary data was obtained through structured observation in April 2022. The database and its resources are explained in table 1. Also, the open street map was used for two purposes: as a base map for results and analysis and to understand better the park and the surrounding neighborhood.

Data type	source	Type of file	Year	Description
Function mix data of Amsterdam	https://data.amsterdam.nl/ Municipality of Amsterdam department of Spatial planning and sustainability	Shapefile	April 2022	Polygon data of building blocks. Each building is labeled based on the land uses for residential, service, and offices, and the combination of them
Cycling and walking network	https://data.amsterdam.nl/ Municipality of Amsterdam department of Spatial planning and sustainability	Shapefile	2022 January	Line layer of walking/ cycling routes of Amsterdam
Public transportation lines and stops	https://data.amsterdam.nl/ Municipality of Amsterdam department of Spatial planning and sustainability	Shapefile	2022 January	Line and point layer of tram/bus lines in Amsterdam
Open street map	https://www.openstreetmap.org/	-	-	The open street map was used to get familiar with the case studies and surrounding areas
Users of Erasmuspark and Oosterpark	Fieldwork observation	Shapefile	2022 April	Point layer of users observed with attributes including gender, age, activity, Static or Mobile, Group or Alone

#### Table 1:Source and details of database

#### 3.5. Data collection: structured observation

The observation technique was applied to study the spatial relationship between park characteristics and park-use behavior. "Structured observation is a method for systematically observing the behavior of individuals in terms of a schedule of categories" (Bryman, 2012a, page 270). One of the main advantages of direct observation against similar social methods such as surveys is accuracy; there are several potentials for gathering inaccurate data in the survey. The problem of communication and interpretation between interviewer and respondent, the issue of memory when respondents misremember some aspects of their behavior, the gap between respondents' reported behavior and their actual behavior, etc., make the survey research problematic for behavior research (Bryman, 2012b). Behavior mapping is one of the observational tools that record in-situ users' behavior and the environment setting of the behavior. This tool allows to objectively capture the use of an urban park and how the setting supports the behavior (Loebach et al.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://data.amsterdam.nl/

2020). This technique is valuable for this study because interviews and questionnaires are ineffective for diverse users such as children or youth who may have problems explaining their behavior and environment. The following aspects were considered in the observations of the park.

#### 1) User

• What is the estimated age and gender of users of the urban park?

For this question, different categories of age and gender were pre-defined. Age groups in this thesis are children, teenagers, adults, and the elderly. Also, gender groups are considered male and female. It should be noted that estimation of gender and age is subjective and based on facial or body features. Such features are wrinkles, mobility ability, height, and clothing.

• Where are the users located?

The approximate location of the users was recorded using the GIS and Mergin plugin app.

What activity are they doing?

Up to three activities were recorded for some users. For instance, if a user was walking and talking with friends, walking was recorded as activity 1 (main activity) and talking as activity 2.

#### 2) Park facilities and characteristics

• What are the characteristics of the environment or setting where activity is carried out?? This item

Sun exposure (Yes/No/Partial)Shade (Yes/No/Partial)

Setting type (bench, open grass, picnic tables)

Facilities and different activity settings (water, plaza, lawn, body training equipment, sports fields) Where the area is in relation to the park's routes (located along the main routes/ located along the secondary routes)

How are the areas visually accessible for users in and from outside of the area? (It is open; users see and can be seen / it offers partial visual accessibility; there are visual barriers such as vegetation, and users can partially see and be seen while having some privacy/ the area is totally secluded and visually inaccessible from outside and inside)

#### 3) Park's surrounding neighborhood

The park's entrance, the surrounding public transport stations, and land use around the park. Although such information was obtained from primary data, in-situ knowledge and pictures deepened the neighborhood's understanding.

There are four critical steps to carrying out observation research: 1) preparing a base map of the urban park, 2) deciding on the data collection tools in the fieldwork, 3) deciding on the data variables that need to be recorded, 4) setting up a systematic protocol for data collection including the observation zones 5) setting up a strategy for data analysis (Loebach et al., 2020).

There are three possible approaches for carrying out the research in behavior mapping: paper-based and digital-based methods using GIS as ArcGIS or QGIS and a hybrid method. In the paper-based method, the base map is printed on the paper with proper scale, and users' characteristics, behavior, and environmental setting will be recorded on the paper. Later, the recorded data can be digitalized in ArcGIS or QGIS for data analysis. This method will develop codes to mark the users' age, gender, and activities. As shown in fig.14 (Mehta & Mahato, 2021) used such a method to observe users' behavior in two parks in Cincinnati, Ohio; figure 14 shows an example of an observation sheet of their study.



Figure 14: paper-based observation sheet using by(Mehta & Mahato, 2021)

#### 3.5.1. Pilot observations and the actual observations

Three pilot studies were carried out to test the data collection method. The main objectives of pilot studies were to decide on a paper-based or digital-based data collection approach. The first pilot study happened on the 7th of February with a completely digital-based approach. The case study was Volspark in Enschede. The start time of the observation was 16:46, and the duration was 22 minutes. The weather was sunny with a temperature of 14 Celsius. A total number of 32 users were recorded. The "Input" app and Merging Plugin on QGIS was used to record users' features. Input is a free mobile app developed by Lutra Consulting for using and collecting QGIS. Data collected by Input will be synchronized to the desktop QGIS using the Mergin plugin (Using Input/Mergin and QGIS for Field Data Collection — Community Health Maps, 2019). Features that needed to be recorded, such as age group and gender and whether the users are alone or in a group, were chosen by a drop-down option in the app when the user's location was specified.

The pilot study was repeated under different locations, dates, and data collection approaches. The second pilot study was conducted in the Wooldrikspark in Enschede on the 29th of March 2022. The paperbased approach was adopted for this round of pilot study. Figure 15 presents the observation sheet used to record the user's features with corresponding codes. The duration of observation was one hour and repeated thrice between 10-11 a.m., 1-2 p.m., and 4-5 p.m.

The third pilot study was conducted on the 7th of April before fieldwork in the Saphartipark in Amsterdam. A paper-based approach was applied. Although only some parts of the park were open, the paper-based data collection was ineffective because of the high number of users. So, the digital-based approach with some alteration was applied.



Figure 15:observasion sheet in paper-based observation pilot study

To sum up the experience of pilot studies, there are some considerations for choosing paper-based or digital-based approaches; The time of transporting data from the field to the GIS platform in this thesis QGIS and the efficiency of work in the data-gathering phase. The Mergin plugin advantages fast data transformation. Despite the user-friendly platform of the Mergin App, it was not convenient to gather the data on various features of the users via the drop-down menu. On the other hand, the coding system in the paper-based approach fits better to record various desired features of the users. Hence, a hybrid approach was applied using the Mergin plugin and coding system to record some features.

The actual structured observation was carried out from nine to 12 of April in three time slots: 10-11 a.m., 13-14 a.m., and 16-17 a.m. On the 9<sup>th</sup> and 11<sup>th</sup> of April, Oosterpark and 10<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> of April, Erasmuspark was observed. In total, 1673 users were recorded.

#### 3.6. Data analysis

The analysis process used a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods. This section details the used methods.

#### 3.6.1. Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics, namely, the percentage, was used to summarize the data gathered in observation. The individual factors, including gender, age, and activity users were performing, were considered, and presented by Sankey diagrams. Sankey diagrams are a visualization tool to show flows or resources. In this thesis, age or gender, several entities are presented by the text. The entities are linked by flows, which are proportional to the quantity represented (Stafford, 2019). To that aim, Flourish studio<sup>3</sup>, an online web-based visualization tool, was applied. The data in the form of a .xlx file was uploaded to the website, and the desired Sankey diagram was obtained. This information will be used in capture 4 to answer r.q.1 of objective 3.

#### 3.6.2. Kernel density analysis

To find the hot spots of female-centered, male-centered, and gender-mixed areas, kernel density analysis was carried out using QGIS 3.20.3. kernel density map was used to answer research r.q.2 objectives 3 in chapter 4. the process of kernel density analysis is detailed in several steps:

- Step one: Two vector shape layers containing female and male users were prepared.
- Step two: The heat map option was selected in the layer styling tab.
- Step three: Using vector to raster conversion, two heat map layers were converted to raster layers.
- Step four: Two male and female raster layers were normalized to 0-1 and -1 to 0, respectively, with the Equation one:

Equation 1: normalization formula: x' = (x - x m i n) / (x m a x - x m i n)

- Step five: Using the "Fill No Data" command, the no data cells were filled with zero for both layers.
- Step six: Using a field calculator, female and male raster layers were summed up, making a new raster layer.
- Step seven: The raster layer generated in step three was converted to a vector layer using the Raster to vector conversion command.
- Step eight: The outcome of step six was clipped using Raster>extraction> Clip raster by Mask Layer. The outcome of step seven was used as the mask layer.
- Step nine: The outcome from the previous step was changed in Symbology>Render type> Singleband pseudoscalar. Blue was assigned to the lowest value presenting female concentration and red to the highest value presenting male concentration. The value in between was showing the gendermixed areas.

#### 3.6.3. Qualitative analysis of environmental characteristics

Sketch drawings were used to visualize the environmental characteristics recorded in the observation. Figure 16 presents an example of the sketches used to present the environmental characteristics. Figure 17 presents each element of the sketches and its corresponding meaning. After identifying the hot spots via kernel density analysis, each highlighted area was sketched, and environmental characteristics were visualized. Hence, the similarities and differences of different highlighted areas were identified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://flourish.studio/



Figure 17: one example of sketches drawn in the analysis for one of the areas that was highlighted

Figure 16: elements used in the sketch and corresponding meaning

#### 3.7. Summary

In this section, methods to carry out the research were presented. Two urban parks in Amsterdam were selected: Erasmuspark and Oosterpark. Primary data using Amsterdam. The Amsterdam data portal provided the primary data such as land use data, walking and cycling network, and public transportation network. The Secondary data concerning users of urban parks through structured observations were collected. Data is analyzed through mixed qualitative and quantitative methods. For qualitative data, descriptive statistics using the Sankey diagram were applied. Also, concerning the location of users, Kernal destiny maps were created. The observation notes and features of the built environment were extracted using the theoretical framework, sketches, and literature review.

# 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section presents the result of the analysis to address research objective 3, namely" explain the characteristics of urban green spaces that promote the diversity of users."

The literature review and methodology section targeted research objectives 1 and 2; "Understanding the interaction between the concepts of urban green space and compact urban development" and "Conceptualizing the use and users of urban green space in the context of compact urban development." The result was summed in the form of a theoretical framework. The following subsections detail the outcomes of the statistical and spatial analysis for the third objective.

#### 4.1. Users of urban green space

This section answers research question 1 of objective 3, "Who are the users of urban green space?". The Sankey diagrams in Figures 16 and 17, called "age-gender group profile," show the population percentage according to the individual features of age and gender. The wider the arrows in the Sankey diagram, the bigger the proportion. The results shown in Fig. 16 and Fig. 17 indicate that adults share the largest population of park users. Erasmuspark shows a higher percentage of female users than male users and only a small percentage of teenagers. Also, Oosterpark attracted more male users and more teenagers in total.





Figure 17: Gender-age group profile of Erasmuspark users

The different share of user's gender and the share of teenagers in two parks can be explained by the land uses surrounding the two parks. The result of the function-mix evaluation in figure 18 indicates that Erasmuspark, with a higher share of female users, is surrounded mainly by residential land use in the 800 meters or 10 minutes walking distance buffer zone. Oosterpark, with a higher share of male users, is surrounded by higher land-use diversity, as illustrated in figure 18. These findings validate the result of a recent study that found more residential land use around the urban park fosters a higher female presence than in parks surrounded by other land-use functions (Mushkani & Ono, 2021). This association between the gender of users and land uses of the surrounding neighborhood reflects the different gender roles; Closeness to residential areas attracts more women because women look after the household and children more than men, and men have more access to the labour market (Holland Alumni Network, 2016). The presence of several schools and educational institutions around Oosterpark explains the presence of more teenagers in the Oosterpark, especially on the weekdays.



Figure 18: Function mix in 10-minute walking distance around the two parks Source: https://data.amsterdam.nl/

#### 4.2. Use of the urban park

This section presents the result of descriptive statistical analysis and kernel density spatial analysis to answer the second research question of objective three: "How do the users use urban green space?" To that aim, the analysis targeted the activities observed in the parks, the users' location, age and gender, and environmental characteristics in which users were observed performing activities.

To understand how users were using the urban park, I investigated gender and the main activity that users were engaged in at the moment of observation. The gender-activity profile in Figure 19 illustrates the proportion of female and male users and their main activity observed in Oosterpark.



Figure 19:Gender-activity profile of Oosterpark users

The most observed activities in Oosterpark were walking-related (walking but also walking the dog, and walking with the stroller (pushing the stroller). Next, users were observed cycling, running, and sitting on benches. Fewer users did other active activities such as skating, playing, and doing sports. Notably, physically active behavior such as walking, various sports, and running was more performed than sedentary behavior such as sitting on the bench or grass.

There was no significant difference between the two genders and observed activities; females and males engaged in the same activities, except for cycling; more men were observed cycling in the park.

From figure 20, it's evident that the most frequent activity done in Erasmuspark is sitting on the bench, followed by walking, sitting on the grass, walking the dog, walking with a stroller, and sitting at the café. Noteworthy, there is a relatively even distribution between different activities. In addition, sedentary behavior such as sitting on the bench, at the café, and on grass has a higher proportion than active activities. The share of female and male users engaged in such activities remains the same, with female users more than male users.



Figure 20: Gender-activity profile of Erasmuspark users

A comparison of age-activity profiles of the two parks reveals that the users of Oosterpark were more physically active than those in Erasmuspark. The difference between the two parks regarding active behavior can be seen in the neighborhood's walking, cycling, and public transport accessibility and the park's pathways and sports facilities. Several studies indicate that better access to walking and cycling infrastructure and public transport will promote physically active use of the park (Barreno et al., 2021; Sallis et al., 2016). Figure 21 on the next page shows that Oosterpark has immediate access to bus/tram stops around the entrances, and the density of the walking routes in the park is higher than in Erasmuspark. Also, the pathways in Oosterpark are wider, allowing users to walk and cycle with each other. The widest pathway in the Oosterpark with the higher number of cyclists connects one cycle lane in the east of the park to another cycle lane in the west(see figure 21). Such a good connection with transportation infrastructure leads some users to use the park for transit. For example, if the users cycled through the park to reach some shops or their homes. Using the park as transit was one of the reasons for park visits in a study done in Australia (Taylor et al., 2020).



Figure 21: the main path of the Oosterpark and it's connection to the cycling infrastructure

Also, men cycled more than women. Several other studies also confirmed that male users are more physically active than female users in urban parks (Cohen et al., 2014, 2021; Floyd et al., 2008b, 2008a). These findings also relate to a qualitative review study (McCormack et al., 2010b) investigating characteristics of urban parks associated with park use, indicating that women consider urban parks a safe place to meet and socialize and consider parks as a setting for performing physical activity.

walking and cycling network, Tram/bus network in 500 meter buffer zone around Erasmuspark and Oosterpark



Figure 22: walking/cycling network, tram/bus network in 500 meters buffer zones around the parks, Source: https://data.amsterdam.nl/

The two factors of main activity (as activity 1 in fig.23) and age were considered for further analysis. The age-activity profile of the two parks in this section reveals the distribution of activities between different age groups. Figure 23 summarizes the statistical analysis of age and activities in Oosterpark, called the age-activity profile. This figure is quite revealing in several ways.



Figure 23: Age group-activity profile of Oosterpark users

The elderly were observed often walking. The second most frequent activities they were doing were sitting on a bench, walking a dog, and cycling. They were also seen walking with a stroller, doing exercise and group sports such as Tai chi, and buying coffee.

Adults were also observed often walking. The second most frequent activities were cycling, walking the dog, walking with a stroller, running, and sitting on the bench. The adults are involved in a broader range of activities than other age groups. Activities such as playing football and tennis, playing with children in the playground, interacting with parks' statues (including looking at them, going around them, taking a picture with them, or climbing and sitting on them), and standing and watching the kids play, and doing group and individual exercises.

The teenagers were also observed significantly walking, followed by cycling and running. Overall, they were observed engaging in a narrower range of activities; besides those mentioned above, they played football and sat on the bench.

The children mainly were either walking or playing. They are also involved in a narrower range of activities; besides those mentioned above, they cycle, interact with park statues, skate, play with water and sit on the bench.



Figure 24: Age group-activity profile of Erasmuspark users

Figure 24 provides the age-activity profile of Erasmuspark users. The elderly were observed significantly walking and sitting on a bench. The other activities with slightly less frequency were sitting at the café and walking a dog. The Adults were observed doing four activities with the same frequency; walking, sitting at the café, walking a dog, and sitting on a bench. The other activities with less frequency were walking with a stroller, standing while taking care of children, running, buying coffee, and doing sports with exercise equipment. The teenagers were only observed sitting on the bench. The children were mainly playing or sitting at the café with their caregivers. Moreover, they were observed walking and sitting on the bench.

#### 4.2.1. Spatial analysis of the use of urban parks

In this section, I present the results of kernel density analysis for male and female users of the parks. The kernel density analysis identified the hot spots of both parks' male-dominated, female-dominated, and gender-mixed areas (see appendix 1 to 4). The theoretical framework, relevant literature, and sketches explain the environmental characteristics of the three areas mentioned above.

Table 2 illustrates some examples of male-dominated areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark. It seems that all male-dominated areas offer the possibility to watch others and be seen since mainly they are located close to crowded routes with open, visually accessible spatial arrangements. Based on the theoretical framework, one factor can explain it: activity in the behavior dimension. Watching the others use the park can be an activity for some users, especially male users. Previous studies confirm that the presence of other users who engage in expected and acceptable ways of using the space and participate in typical activities such as walking, sitting on a bench, talking, watching other people, having fun together, etc., are received significantly positively (Mehta & Mahato, 2021; van Aalst & Brands, 2021).

Table 3 shows some examples of female-dominated areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark. It seems that for female users, having quietness and being separated from busy, crowded park routes and close connection with vegetation is essential. Table 4 presents some examples of gender-mixed areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark. It appears multifunctionality, sunlight exposure and half-shadow exposure, defined physical boundaries with entrance and exit, and the presence of children promote gender-mixed areas.

Three examples of male-dominated areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark									
Number	Picture	Diagram	Characteristic	Framework	Description				
1 figure11 4 figure11	<image/>	Pain fact. Pain f	possibility to watch others and be seen	Behavior> Activity	Areas with male users' concentration seem to offer the possibility of watching other users and being seen by others because they are mainly located on crowded main routes with a wide view. However, it seems to be related to activity and attraction rather than perceived safety. This is confirmed by previous studies that the presence of other users who engage in expected and acceptable ways of using the space and participate in typical activities such as walking, sitting on a bench, talking, watching other people, having fun together, etc., are received significantly positively (Mehta & Mahato, 2021; van Aalst & Brands, 2021).				
1 figure13	Katter Ves Sur Kels-Aces	greenang Steenang Versiking Open grass Area	sunlight exposure half-shadow exposure	Perceived environment > Comfort	All female-dominated areas offered seating areas and benches with sunlight exposure throughout the day without dense vegetation that blocks sunlight.				

Three examples of female-dominated areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark										
Number	Picture	Diagram	Characteristic	Framework	Description					
8 figure11			sunlight exposure half-shadow exposure	Perceived environment> Comfort	All female-dominated areas offered seating areas and benches with sunlight exposure throughout the day without dense vegetation that blocks sunlight.					
			Close contact or view of the vegetation	<ul> <li>Perceived</li> <li>environment&gt; -</li> <li>Comfort</li> <li>Attractiveness</li> <li>park physical</li> <li>environment&gt;</li> <li>-Facilities</li> <li>-activity setting</li> </ul>	Women were found concentrating in places where they could have closer interaction with nature and vegetation. These intersections include taking pictures, looking at the view, walking through the garden, and smelling the flowers in the Miracle garden.					
7 figure13	<image/>		-Located along with one of the secondary routes - Quiet and less- crowded areas of the park (inner layers)	Perceived environment> Perceived safety park physical environment> activity setting	Although the presence of other users and visibility have been noted by previous studies as an essential element of improving perceived safety, especially for women(Polko & Kimic, 2022a), less crowded and inner parts of the parks were in this thesis found female-centered areas. The character of the parks can play an essential role in the visibility and perceived safety as both parks have an open character and most areas are not visually isolated. Women seem to consider privacy as well as safety. This finding can be explained by a previous study where it was found that there is a fine line between feeling safe and feeling crowded(Lis & Iwankowski, 2021).To put it another way, park users, notably women, feel safe and well in situations when they see other people in the area and are not separated from them by a visual obstruction, as long as these people are located some distance away. That is why it is worth creating spaces for relaxation away from crowded spaces but where the active people are visible.					

Two examples of gender-mixed areas in Erasmuspark and Oosterpark									
Number	Picture	Diagram	Characteristic	Framework	Description				
5 figure17		Cofe plaggrand +	Defined physical boundaries (presence of fence) with defined entrance and exit	Perceived environment > Perceived safety	Defined physical boundaries can help restrict some activities, such as a walking dog, which is popular in both case studies. The presence of dogs and feces can cause conflict for other users. (Derges et al., 2012; Instone & Sweeney, 2014) Defined physical boundaries can help restrict animals from entering and increase some users' safety and sense of security.				
		Clested Alter West V t	Presence of children		The presence of children or closeness to the playground has been confirmed as a positive element for perceived safety for both genders, especially women (Polko & Kimic, 2022a). Areas around playgrounds and areas that engage children and offer the possibility to play bring a sense of safety for other users.				
4 figure16		entrance	sunlight exposure half-shadow exposure	Perceived environment > Comfort	All gender-mixed areas offered seating areas and benches with sunlight exposure throughout the day without dense vegetation that blocks sunlight.				
			Multifunctionality	park physical environment > -Facilities -Activity setting	Multifunctional spaces offer different activity possibilities to both genders and different ages (Sundevall & Jansson, 2020); Places where children can play, teenagers can hang out, and parents and elderly can sit, walk, or socialize while enjoying other users' presence can promote the use of both genders.				
			Locating along the secondary routes of the park	park physical environment > -Activity setting	Quiet and less-crowded areas provide a pleasant experience and comfort to perform activities such as relaxing, eating, reading, and talking.				

#### Table 4:environmental characteristics of gender-mixed areas in two parks

#### 4.2.1.1. Age-density analysis and activity-density analysis

Figure 25 and figure 26 depict different ages and locations of users in Oosterpark and Erasmuspark. Based on the figures and theoretical framework, there are some important points to mention.

Children were mainly located in playgrounds. Observing the playgrounds based on the theoretical framework highlights two factors: facilities and perceived safety. Play facilities in both parks offered the children the possibilities of physical activities such as climbing, running, and suspending; in Oosterpark, several adults were also seen playing with their children using the play facilities. Considering perceived safety, locating the playground in Erasmuspark close to Terrasmus café gives the playground a sense of social control. The fact that the presence of other users increases the perceived safety is in line with previous studies (Shams & Barker, 2019). However, children users were not only confined to playgrounds; other areas offered children the possibility of play and usage; areas that invited them to interact physically, including running, climbing, close contact with vegetation, and being observed by other users. Using the empirical evidence, two areas of Miracle garden (figure 26 area D) and Hotel Plaza (figure 25 area B) have significant examples. In the Miracle garden, children could enter and play with the various vegetation while the adults and other users sat on the benches and observed them. Also, in the Hotel Plaza, the huge stones in the waterbody engage children to climb and play while other users sat on the bench and observed them. Previous studies also found that areas with playfulness while providing a safe environment can engage children (Sundevall & Jansson, 2020).

Adults and the elderly were found using all the areas in both parks. As confirmed by other studies, teenagers sharing the lowest population of users were primarily seen in secluded areas such as sports fields and quiet seating areas with other users. A recent study in Utrecht (van Aalst & Brands, 2021) indicates that teenagers prefer to visit parks with their group apart from others. They also appreciate the presence of other users as long as it does not affect their group privacy (van Aalst & Brands, 2021). Another study indicates they prefer to have their group privacy and not get disturbed by other users, especially children (Sundevall & Jansson, 2020).

## Observed users by age in Oosterpark



Figure 25: observed users by age in Oosterpark

### Observed users by age in Erasmuspark



Figure 26:Observed users by age in Erasmuspark

#### 4.3. Users diversity by age and gender in urban parks

In this section, I address the question, "How do the characteristics of urban green space and surrounding environment promote diversity of its users." To that aim, the outcome of the previous section's analysis was scrutinized from the angle of the diversity of users, and an **"area-gender-age"** matrix of all the highlighted areas from the analysis was created. In this matrix, routes and pathways were excluded, and only areas with distinct boundaries offering static activity possibilities were included, such as playgrounds, plazas, etc.

In table 5, the Area-gender-age matrix of Erasmuspark, areas are colored based on a comparison between the age-gender profile of the area and the whole park, which means the closer two profiles together, the area was more successful in accommodating all the possible users. The Miracle garden, with the higher position in the matrix (Table 5), has environmental characteristics that allow a wider range of users to use it. In the kernel density analysis, the Miracle Garden was found with defined physical boundaries, defined exit and entrance, the possibility of close contact with vegetation, the possibility of play for children, and multifunctionality.

The lower we go on the table, the more mono function the areas become. The playgrounds, which only are used by children and adult caregivers, should be accompanied by other areas at close distance to afford higher diversity of users collectively. As in the Erasmuspark case study, the playground, Terrasmus café, and small lawn (with dog restrictions) were located close to each other and created a hub for diverse users. When children were playing in the playground, many adults, as their caregivers, were standing or waiting for them. The adults could appreciate the café while caregiving for their children in the playground; the close distance allowed the adults to enjoy coffee and a conversation while their children were playing.

To sum up, multiple separate multifunctional areas or a group of areas with monofunctional areas and collectively multifunction can promote the diversity of users. Such an approach to multifunctionality is close to what (Hansen et al., 2019b; Sundevall & Jansson, 2020) proposed as a "tessellated approach," "total multifunctionality." The tessellated approach to multifunctionality refers to the spatial segregation of functions within one zone, i.e., the playground, café, and lawn in Erasmuspark. "Total multifunctionality" is when all the functions are balanced simultaneously and in the same location, i.e., Miracle Garden.

The synergy between land-uses surrounding the park and activities and functions of the park increases the park's potential to accommodate the use of diverse users. Land uses surrounding the Oosterpark are more diverse and contain art galleries, museums, hotels, catering, and education centers. So, people come to the neighborhood for various reasons and may end up using the park. For example, in Oosterpark, several users were observed carrying a suitcase or sitting on the bench with a suitcase related to the hotels around the park. Such users cross the park to reach the hotels or use a waiting area with their luggage. As the second example, Erasmuspark is surrounded by residential land use, lacking catering land uses; establishing a catering land use, Terrasmus café in the park answered its demand. Hence, It is essential to consider the unique potential of the surrounding neighborhood and consider them an opportunity to accommodate such users.

#### Table 5:area-gender-age matrix of Erasmuspark

Location in the park	Number Of area	Name of the area The whole	Female %	Male %	Child %	Teens %	Adults % 75	Elderly %	Activities affordances
	1	Miracle garden	54	46	7	4	57	31	sitting on the bench/ playing in the garden/reading on the bench/taking pictures of flowers/ care taking/ interactive with nature/ socializing in group
	2	Terrasmus	66	34	18	2	70	10	sitting at terrace/ drinking/ socializing /eating/ waiting for children to play (care giving)
13b2 13b2 14 15 125 H 2 5 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	3	Open area with dog restrictions	56	44	26	0	70	4	sitting on grass/ reading book
6.H 02:1 Germaal 300A 176 68 176 68 176 68 176 68 176 68 176 68 176 68 176 176 176 176 176 176 176 176 176 176	4	Open green area	50	50	3	3	93	0	playing with dog/sitting on the grass/playing football
Area with lower user diversity user diversity	5	Playground	74	26	54	0	38	8	playing /care giving/sitting on the bench /talking

### Table 6:area-gender-age matrix of Oosterpark

Location in the park		Name of the area	Female%	Male%	Child %	Teens %	Adults %	Elderly %	Activities affordances
		park		50	0	0	01	20	
2 contract the state of the sta	1	Hotel plaza	38	62	21	3	62	14	Sitting on the benches, sitting on stairs, wooden pieces, sitting on rocks/ climbing on rocks, playing with water fountain/ reading book
	2	Performing plaza	66	34	18	2	70	10	Sitting on the benches, performing arts, watching performing arts, skating, dancing, working out,
		Children's playground	52	48	32	2	27	3	Playing / sitting
	4	Slavery monument plaza	38	63	25	0	63	13	Slavery monument plaza
	5	Open grass area	47	53	0	17	56	28	Dog walking/ playing with the dog, sitting on the grass, lying on the grass
Area with lower Area with higher user diversity user diversity	6	Tennis sports fields	22	78	0	0	100	0	Playing tennis, sitting on benches, watching people playing tennis

# 5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

#### 5.1. Reflection on research objectives and questions

This thesis aimed to explain the characteristics of UGS, namely, urban public parks in a compact urban development that promote diversity of users regarding age and gender. Three research objectives and related research questions were developed to achieve the thesis's aim. Based on the findings of the study based on the two case studies of Oosterpark and Erasmuspark, the answers are elaborated below.

**Objective 1:** Understanding the key concepts of urban green space, compact urban development, and their interaction

In this thesis, urban green space (UGS) refers to any surface of the urban environment with vegetation. UGS is a broad concept encompassing all areas with vegetation in the urban fabric. Still, this thesis solely focused on public urban parks in compact urban development characterized by function-mix, high density, dense and compact development that promotes public transportation and active travel. In compact urban development, all urban elements such as buildings, infrastructure, green areas, and mixed-land uses are close and compete for limited land (Burton, Jenks, and Williams 2003). Moreover, the imperviousness ratio is higher because of the artificial material and buildings (Arnold and Gibbons 1996). The limited space left for vegetation growth is exposed to environmental pollution due to urbanization (Tian, Jim, and Tao 2012a). Hence, the inevitable scarcity of land in compact, dense development can put pressure on UGS and may result in a loss of green space or a decline in its provision (Harland and van den Bosch, 2015; Neuman, 2005). Despite the pressure that compact urban development puts on urban public parks, it creates some potential for use and users of urban public parks. In this thesis, better access to public transportation, cycling, and walking infrastructure in Oosterpark was found to promote park-based physical activity.

**Objective 2:** Conceptualizing the use and users of urban green space in the context of compact urban development based on literature.

The second objective of this thesis aimed to conceptualize the use and users of UGS, namely, urban parks, by summarizing the contributing factors; Several factors affect the use of urban parks. Some factors related to the urban park's physical environment include amenities and facilities, routes, size of the park, and functions. The other factors relate to the park's perceived environments, including accessibility, attractiveness, quality of facilities and landscape, and perceived safety. There are other groups of factors that refer to users' individual features, including age, gender, health, and ethnicity. From the surrounding neighborhood, factors related to accessibility, land-uses, walking and cycling infrastructure, and public transportation affect the use of urban green space. Compact urban development by promoting functionmix, use of public transportation, active travel (walking -cycling), and high density can influence the use of urban parks and surrounding neighborhoods influencing urban park use. Based on this model, four dimensions of individual factors, perceived environment, behavior, and park's physical environment, explain the use of urban parks. To adapt the model to this thesis, the fifth dimension of neighborhood environment with factors of function-mix, active travel, and public transportation was added to the model.

Objective 3: Explain the characteristics of urban green spaces that promote the diversity of users

Concerning the design of urban parks, areas in the park that promote diversity of users in terms of different ages and gender were found with specific environmental characteristics: multifunctional in terms of providing different activity possibilities, perceived as safe with defined physical boundaries, entrance/exit, providing the comfort of use by sun/half-shadow exposure.

In the two case studies, the synergy between the arrangement of activities in the park and the surrounding neighborhood's land use and transportation provided unique activity opportunities. In the Oosterpark case study, better access to public transportation and walking/cycling infrastructure induced more active park use. Several sports fields and broad walking pathways also pursued the possibility of active park use. Also, the Terrasmus café in the Erasmuspark case study attracted a considerable number of park users by offering a catering service which lacked in the surrounding neighborhood. Grouping the café with the children's playground and lawn attracted diverse users.

#### 5.2. Academic and social contributions

This thesis aimed to explain the characteristics of UGS, namely, urban public parks in a compact urban development that promote diversity of the users regarding age and gender. The socio-ecological model (Schipperijn, 2010) was adapted to conceptualize the factors of urban parks influencing their use. This thesis contributed to the research of urban parks in compact development by adding the fifth dimension of neighborhood physical environment to the socio-ecological model. Elements of the land-use mix, public transport, and active travel were considered in the use of two urban parks. The methodological framework developed in this thesis gives a holistic overview of factors influencing the use of urban parks. It contributes to the research development by laying the foundation for more comprehensive future research on urban park use. This model can help plan better urban parks in compact urban development since it informs the planners of more contributing factors related to the use of urban parks. Also, it encourages multi-disciplinary planning of urban parks in compact urban development by highlighting the neighborhood's physical environment and the park's physical environment.

Based on the findings of this study, successful urban parks in a compact development are multifunctional. Previous studies proposed multifunctionality in all spatial levels for UGS in compact development (Hansen et al., 2019b; Sundevall & Jansson, 2020). This thesis adds to the existing literature by providing empirical knowledge about multifunctionality on the design scale and arrangement of the park's activities (detailed in section 4.3). Also, due to the added fifth dimension to the socio-ecological model (Schipperijn, 2010), it was revealed that synergy between surrounding land use, public transportation, and walking/cycling infrastructure and the park's facilities and activities could induce certain activities. Based on the findings, I arrived at two major recommendations for urban planners, landscape designers, and related disciplines to promote diversity of the users in urban public parks in compact urban development;

- 1) Sensitivity and responsiveness to the land use surrounding the park; by providing the activities missing from the surroundings (e.g., catering) or understanding the park users according to the surrounding land uses and considering their needs in the activity arrangements. For example, the majority of users of Erasmuspark, surrounded by residential land use, were women.
- 2) Multifunctionality in the design and arrangement of the park's facilities. There are two approaches regarding multifunctional areas in the park; developing several multifunction areas such as Miracle garden(figure 26 area D) and Hotel Plaza (figure 25 area B), or developing a hub of monofunctional areas such as the café, the playground, and lawn in Erasmuspark (Areas A, B, and C in figure 26).

#### 5.3. Limitations

One of the limitations of this study was defining the scope of diversity of the users. The diversity of users can consider all the individual features, including ethnicity, physical ability, etc. However, for the feasibility of the research, only two individual features were selected. Considering more individual features can deepen the understanding of the use of urban public parks. Although the on-site observational approach gave an empirical understanding of users' behavior, the user's opinion also can be coupled with the observation and add another layer of understanding to the use of urban public parks. One of the methodological limitations of the study was regarding the data collection. Although structural observation and recording of the data using the QGIS and Mergin plugin <sup>4</sup> made it possible to document the user's location and individual features and activities, it was impossible to record each user in time series. Users may use different facilities in one visit to the park and spend different times in each area and facility. Recording the sequence and time spent on each facility can provide meaningful insights into the park's facilities' importance for each user group.

#### 5.4. Recommendations for future studies

The methodological framework developed in this study can be used for future studies on urban public parks in compact urban development, focusing more on the fifth dimension, the neighborhood's physical environment. It is worth quantifying the influence of each of the compact neighborhood elements(e.g., land use-mix, accessibility of public transportation) on the use of the diversity of the users.

Another future research can investigate the diverse user's opinions and preferences on a compact neighborhood's physical, social, and economic environment. Users' preferences and opinions on the park's design and facilities have been investigated in prior research, but users' preferences and opinions regarding the surrounding neighborhood especially considering a compact urban development, are unclear.

The other interesting area of research can be identifying the non-users of the urban public park. This thesis based the research on the existing users in the park, while another study can focus on the potential users who are not present at the park. Comparing the user's profile of the park with the population profile in the surrounding neighborhood can reveal the non-users' population of the park. Future research can investigate the non-users of an urban public park and explore the barriers and reasons od non-use phenomena.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> More information at page 23

### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Andersson, E., Barthel, S., Borgström, S., Colding, J., Elmqvist, T., Folke, C., & Gren, Å. (2014). Reconnecting Cities to the Biosphere: Stewardship of Green Infrastructure and Urban Ecosystem Services. AMBIO, 43(4), 445– 453. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-014-0506-y
- Arnold, C. L., & Gibbons, C. J. (1996). Impervious Surface Coverage: The Emergence of a Key Environmental Indicator. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 62(2), 243–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944369608975688
- Artmann, M., Chen, X., Iojă, C., Hof, A., Onose, D., Poniży, L., Lamovšek, A. Z., & Breuste, J. (2017). The role of urban green spaces in care facilities for elderly people across European cities. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 27, 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.08.007
- Artmann, M., Inostroza, L., & Fan, P. (2019). Urban sprawl, compact urban development and green cities. How much do we know, how much do we agree? *Ecological Indicators*, 96, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.10.059
- Azmi, D. I., & Karim, H. A. (2012). Implications of Walkability Towards Promoting Sustainable Urban Neighbourhood. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 50, 204–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SBSPRO.2012.08.028
- Balikçi, S., Giezen, M., & Arundel, R. (2021). The paradox of planning the compact and green city: analyzing landuse change in Amsterdam and Brussels. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2021.1971069
- Barreno, M., Sisa, I., Cecilia, M., García, Y., Shen, H., Villar, M., Kovalskys, I., Fisberg, M., Gomez, G., Rigotti, A., Cortés, L. Y., Pareja, R. G., Herrera-Cuenca, M., & Guajardo, V. (2021). Association between built environment and physical activity in Latin American countries: a multicentre cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 11, 46271. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046271
- Beer, A., Delshammer, T., & Schildwacht, P. (2003). A Changing Understanding of the Role of Greenspace in Highdensity Housing: A European Perspective. *Built Environment (1978-)*, 29(2), 132–143. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23288812
- Bibri, S. E. (2020). The Compact City Paradigm and its Centrality in Sustainable Urbanism in the Era of Big Data Revolution: A Comprehensive State-of-the-Art Literature Review. In S. E. Bibri (Ed.), Advances in the Leading Paradigms of Urbanism and their Amalgamation. Advances in Science, Technology & Innovation (IEREK Interdisciplinary Series for Sustainable Development) (pp. 9–39). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41746-8\_2
- Bibri, S. E., Krogstie, J., & Kärrholm, M. (2020). Compact city planning and development: Emerging practices and strategies for achieving the goals of sustainability. In *Developments in the Built Environment* (Vol. 4, p. 100021). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dibe.2020.100021
- Bolund, P., & Hunhammar, S. (1999). Ecosystem services in urban areas. *Ecological Economics*, 29(2), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(99)00013-0
- Bryman, A. (2012a). Social research methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A. (2012b). Social Research Strategies. In OUP Oxford (4th ed., Vol. 32, Issue 4). Oxford University Press.
- Burton, E. (2000). The Compact City: Just or Just Compact? A Preliminary Analysis: Urban Studies, 37(11), 1969–2001. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980050162184
- Burton, E., Jenks, M., & Williams, K. (2003). The Compact City (E. Burton, M. Jenks, & K. Williams (eds.); 1st Editio). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203362372
- Byrne, J. (2012). When green is White: The cultural politics of race, nature and social exclusion in a Los Angeles urban national park. *Geoforum*, 43(3), 595–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2011.10.002
- Carey, S. (2013, April 28). Verdant Oasis in Amsterdam West? | Amsterdam Oriole. https://amsterdamoriole.com/2013/04/28/verdant-oasis-in-amsterdam-west/
- Chang, Z., Chen, J., Li, W., & Li, X. (2019a). Public transportation and the spatial inequality of urban park accessibility: New evidence from Hong Kong. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 76(September), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.09.012
- Chen, J., & Chang, Z. (2015). Rethinking urban green space accessibility: Evaluating and optimizing public transportation system through social network analysis in megacities. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 143, 150– 159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.07.007
- Cohen, D. A., Marsh, T., Williamson, S., Han, B., Derose, K. P., Golinelli, D., & McKenzie, T. L. (2014). The Potential for Pocket Parks to Increase Physical Activity. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28(3\_suppl), S19– S26. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.130430-QUAN-213
- Cohen, D. A., Williamson, S., & Han, B. (2021). Gender Differences in Physical Activity Associated with Urban Neighborhood Parks: Findings from the National Study of Neighborhood Parks. *Women's Health Issues*, 31(3), 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.11.007

- Coles, R. ., & Bussey, S. . (2000). Urban forest landscapes in the UK progressing the social agenda. Landscape and Urban Planning, 52(2–3), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(00)00132-8
- Cortinovis, C., Haase, D., Zanon, B., & Geneletti, D. (2019). Is urban spatial development on the right track? Comparing strategies and trends in the European Union. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 181, 22–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2018.09.007
- Crawford, D., Timperio, A., Giles-Corti, B., Ball, K., Hume, C., Roberts, R., Andrianopoulos, N., & Salmon, J. (2008). Do features of public open spaces vary according to neighbourhood socio-economic status? *Health and Place*, *14*(4), 889–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2007.11.002
- de Roo, G. (2000). Environmental Conflicts in Compact Cities: Complexity, Decisionmaking, and Policy Approaches. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 27(1), 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1068/b2614
- de Vries, S., van Dillen, S. M. E., Groenewegen, P. P., & Spreeuwenberg, P. (2013). Streetscape greenery and health: Stress, social cohesion and physical activity as mediators. *Social Science & Medicine*, 94, 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.06.030
- Delshammar, T. (2014). Urban Greening Strategies for Compact Areas Case Study of Malmö, Sweden. Nordic Journal of Architectural Research, 26(2), 161–177.
- Derges, J., Lynch, R., Clow, A., Petticrew, M., & Draper, A. (2012). Complaints about dog faeces as a symbolic representation of incivility in London, UK: a qualitative study. *Critical Public Health*, 22(4), 419–425. https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2012.710738
- Derose, K. P., Han, B., Williamson, S., & Cohen, D. A. (2018). Gender Disparities in Park Use and Physical Activity among Residents of High-Poverty Neighborhoods in Los Angeles. *Women's Health Issues*, 28(1), 6–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2017.11.003
- Dienst Ruimtelijke Ordening. (2011). Structuurvisie Amsterdam 2040. Economisch sterk en duurzaam. In Gemeente Amsterdam. www.amsterdam.nl/publish/.../structuurvisie\_def\_maart2011\_web.pdf
- Floyd, M. F., Spengler, J. O., Maddock, J. E., Gobster, P. H., & Suau, L. (2008a). Environmental and Social Correlates of Physical Activity in Neighborhood Parks: An Observational Study in Tampa and Chicago. *Leisure Sciences*, 30(4), 360–375. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400802165156
- Floyd, M. F., Spengler, J. O., Maddock, J. E., Gobster, P. H., & Suau, L. J. (2008b). Park-Based Physical Activity in Diverse Communities of Two U.S. Cities. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 34(4), 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.01.009
- Forrest, R., & Kearns, A. (2001). Social Cohesion, Social Capital and the Neighbourhood. Urban Studies, 38(12), 2125–2143. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420980120087081
- Forsyth, A., & Musacchio, L. (2005). Designing small parks: a manual for addressing social and ecological concerns. John Wiley & Sons.
- Fry, D., Aaron Hipp, J., Alberico, C., Huang, J.-H., Lovasi, G. S., & Floyd, M. F. (2021). Land use diversity and park use in New York City. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 22, 101321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101321
- Galloway, G. (2002a). Psychographic segmentation of park visitor markets: evidence for the utility of sensation seeking. *Tourism Management*, 23(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177
- Galloway, G. (2002b). Psychographic segmentation of park visitor markets: Evidence for the utility of sensation seeking. *Tourism Management*, 23(6), 581–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(02)00025-0
- Giezen, M., Balikci, S., & Arundel, R. (2018). Using Remote Sensing to Analyse Net Land-Use Change from Conflicting Sustainability Policies: The Case of Amsterdam. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 7(9), 381. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi7090381
- Haaland, C., & van den Bosch, C. K. (2015). Challenges and strategies for urban green-space planning in cities undergoing densification: A review. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 14(4), 760–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2015.07.009
- Hansen, R., Olafsson, A. S., van der Jagt, A. P. N., Rall, E., & Pauleit, S. (2019a). Planning multifunctional green infrastructure for compact cities: What is the state of practice? *Ecological Indicators*, 96(November 2017), 99– 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.09.042
- Hansen, R., Olafsson, A. S., van der Jagt, A. P. N., Rall, E., & Pauleit, S. (2019b). Planning multifunctional green infrastructure for compact cities: What is the state of practice? *Ecological Indicators*, 96(November 2016), 99– 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.09.042
- Hirabayashi, S., & Nowak, D. J. (2016). Comprehensive national database of tree effects on air quality and human health in the United States. *Environmental Pollution*, *215*, 48–57.
- https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.04.068
- Holland Alumni Network. (2016). Gender equality in the Netherlands.

https://www.hollandalumni.nl/medias/editor/files/gender-equality-in-the-netherlands.pdf

- Holtan, M. T., Dieterlen, S. L., & Sullivan, W. C. (2015). Social Life Under Cover. *Environment and Behavior*, 47(5), 502–525. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916513518064
- Hu, Z., Liebens, J., & Rao, K. R. (2008). Linking stroke mortality with air pollution, income, and greenness in northwest Florida: an ecological geographical study. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 7(1), 1–22.

- Huang, J. H., Hipp, J. A., Marquet, O., Alberico, C., Fry, D., Mazak, E., Lovasi, G. S., Robinson, W. R., & Floyd, M. F. (2020). Neighborhood characteristics associated with park use and park-based physical activity among children in low-income diverse neighborhoods in New York City. *Preventive Medicine*, 131. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YPMED.2019.105948
- Instone, L., & Sweeney, J. (2014). The trouble with dogs: 'animaling' public space in the Australian city. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10304312.2014.966404*, 28(6), 774–786. https://doi.org/10.1080/10304312.2014.966404
- Jabareen, Y. R. (2006). Sustainable Urban Forms: Their Typologies, Models, and Concepts. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 26(1), 38–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X05285119
- Jan, J. (2010). Use of urban green space. In Skov & Landskab Københavns Universitet. (Forest and Landscape Research (Issues 45–2010).
- Jansson, M., Sundevall, E., & Wales, M. (2016). The role of green spaces and their management in a child-friendly urban village. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 18, 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2016.06.014
- Jim, C. Y. (2004). Green-space preservation and allocation for sustainable greening of compact cities. *Cities*, 21(4), 311–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CITIES.2004.04.004
- Jim, C. Y. (2013). Sustainable urban greening strategies for compact cities in developing and developed economies. *Urban Ecosystems*, 16(4), 741–761. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-012-0268-x
- Kabisch, N., & Haase, D. (2013). Green spaces of European cities revisited for 1990–2006. Landscape and Urban Planning, 110, 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.10.017
- Kaczynski, A. T., Johnson, A. J., & Saelens, B. E. (2010). Neighborhood land use diversity and physical activity in adjacent parks. *Health and Place*, *16*(2), 413–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.11.004
- Kaczynski, A. T., Potwarka, L. R., & Saelens, B. E. (2008). Association of Park Size, Distance, and Features With Physical Activity in Neighborhood Parks. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(8), 1451–1456. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.129064
- Kuo, F. E., Sullivan, W. C., Coley, R. L., & Brunson, L. (1998). Fertile ground for community: Inner city neighborhood common spaces. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 26(6), 823–851. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022294028903
- Laatikainen, T. E., Broberg, A., & Kyttä, M. (2017). The physical environment of positive places: Exploring differences between age groups. *Preventive Medicine*, 95, S85–S91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YPMED.2016.11.015
- Lee, G., & Hong, I. (2013). Measuring spatial accessibility in the context of spatial disparity between demand and supply of urban park service. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 119, 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2013.07.001
- Liang, H., & Zhang, Q. (2018). Assessing the public transport service to urban parks on the basis of spatial accessibility for citizens in the compact megacity of Shanghai, China. Urban Studies, 55(9), 1983–1999. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098017705846
- Lis, A., & Iwankowski, P. (2021). Where do we want to see other people while relaxing in a city park? Visual relationships with park users and their impact on preferences, safety and privacy. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 73, 101532. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVP.2020.101532
- Liu, H., Li, F., Xu, L., & Han, B. (2017). The impact of socio-demographic, environmental, and individual factors on urban park visitation in Beijing, China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 163, S181–S188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2015.09.012
- Loebach, J., Cox, A., & Little, S. (2020). Behavior Mapping to Support the Development of Youth-Friendly Public Outdoor Spaces. In *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People* (Issue July, pp. 308–328). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429505614-22
- Loukaitou-Sideris, A. (1995). Urban Form and Social Context: Cultural Differentiation in the Uses of Urban Parks. Journal of Planning Education and Research, 14(2), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X9501400202
- Lu, N., Li, J. Y., Yan, H. W., Shi, T., & Li, Y. (2014). Analysis on accessibility of urban park green space: The case study of Shenyang Tiexi District. *Chinese Journal of Applied Ecology*, 25(10), 2951–2958. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25796905
- Madureira, H., & Monteiro, A. (2021). Going Green and Going Dense: A Systematic Review of Compatibilities and Conflicts in Urban Research. *Sustainability*, *13*(19), 10643. https://doi.org/10.3390/su131910643
- Mao, Z., Wang, W., Ren, Z., Zhang, D., & He, X. (2022). Recreational Attractiveness of Urban Parks and Implications for Their Management: A Case Study in Changchun, China. *Chinese Geographical Science*, 32(3), 456– 466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11769-022-1273-5
- Markevych, I., Schoierer, J., Hartig, T., Chudnovsky, A., Hystad, P., Dzhambov, A. M., De Vries, S., Triguero-Mas, M., Brauer, M., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2017). Exploring pathways linking greenspace to health: Theoretical and methodological guidance. *Environmental Research*, 158, 301–317. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.06.028
- McCormack, G. R., Rock, M., Toohey, A. M., & Hignell, D. (2010a). Characteristics of urban parks associated with

park use and physical activity: a review of qualitative research. *Health & Place*, *16*(4), 712–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HEALTHPLACE.2010.03.003

- McCormack, G. R., Rock, M., Toohey, A. M., & Hignell, D. (2010b). Characteristics of urban parks associated with park use and physical activity: A review of qualitative research. *Health and Place*, *16*(4), 712–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.03.003
- McDonald, R., Kroeger, T., Boucher, T., Wang, L., & Salem, R. (2016). Planting healthy air: a global analysis of the role of urban trees in addressing particulate matter pollution and extreme heat. In *Planting healthy air: a global analysis of the role of urban trees in addressing particulate matter pollution and extreme heat.* The Nature Conservancy.
- Mehta, V., & Mahato, B. (2020). Designing urban parks for inclusion, equity, and diversity. *Journal of Urbanism*. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2020.1816563
- Mehta, V., & Mahato, B. (2021). Designing urban parks for inclusion, equity, and diversity. *Journal of Urbanism*, 14(4), 457–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2020.1816563
- Mohamad Muslim, H. F., Yahya, N. A., Numata, S., & Hosaka, T. (2018). Ethnic Differences in Satisfaction with the Attractiveness of Tropical Urban Parks. In Sustainable Future for Human Security (pp. 147–159). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5433-4\_10
- Moulay, A., Ujang, N., & Said, I. (2017). Legibility of neighborhood parks as a predicator for enhanced social interaction towards social sustainability. *Cities*, 61, 58–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CITIES.2016.11.007
- Mouratidis, K. (2019). The impact of urban tree cover on perceived safety. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 44, 126434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2019.126434
- Mushkani, R. A., & Ono, H. (2021). The role of land use and vitality in fostering gender equality in urban public parks: The case of Kabul city, Afghanistan. *Habitat International*, *118*, 102462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2021.102462
- Næss, P., Saglie, I.-L., & Richardson, T. (2020). Urban sustainability: is densification sufficient? *European Planning* Studies, 28(1), 146–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2019.1604633
- Næss, P., Strand, A., Næss, T., & Nicolaisen, M. S. (2011). On their road to sustainability?: The challenge of sustainable mobility in urban planning and development in two Scandinavian capital regions. *Town Planning Review*, 82, 285–316.
- Neuman, M. (2005). The Compact City Fallacy. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 25(1), 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X04270466
- Neutens, T., Farber, S., Delafontaine, M., & Boussauw, K. (2013a). Spatial variation in the potential for social interaction: A case study in Flanders (Belgium). *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 41, 318–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2012.06.007
- Neutens, T., Farber, S., Delafontaine, M., & Boussauw, K. (2013b). Spatial variation in the potential for social interaction: A case study in Flanders (Belgium). *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 41, 318–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPENVURBSYS.2012.06.007
- Niemelä, J. (2014). Ecology of urban green spaces: The way forward in answering major research questions. Landscape and Urban Planning, 125, 298–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2013.07.014
- Ode Sang, Å., Knez, I., Gunnarsson, B., & Hedblom, M. (2016). The effects of naturalness, gender, and age on how urban green space is perceived and used. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 18, 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2016.06.008
- Owen, N., Humpel, N., Leslie, E., Bauman, A., & Sallis, J. F. (2004). Understanding environmental influences on walking: Review and research agenda. In *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* (Vol. 27, Issue 1, pp. 67–76). Am J Prev Med. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.03.006
- Parra, D. C., Gomez, L. F., Fleischer, N. L., & David Pinzon, J. (2010). Built environment characteristics and perceived active park use among older adults: Results from a multilevel study in Bogotá. *Health and Place*, 16(6), 1174–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.07.008
- Payne, L. L., Mowen, A. J., & Orsega-Smith, E. (2002a). An examination of park preferences and behaviors among urban residents: The role of residential location, race and age. *Leisure Sciences*, 24(2), 181–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400252900149
- Payne, L. L., Mowen, A. J., & Orsega-Smith, E. (2002b). An Examination of Park Preferences and Behaviors Among Urban Residents: The Role of Residential Location, Race, and Age. *Leisure Sciences*, 24(2), 181–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400252900149
- Perry, M., Cotes, L., Horton, B., Kunac, R., Snell, I., Taylor, B., Wright, A., & Devan, H. (2021). "Enticing" but Not Necessarily a "Space Designed for Me": Experiences of Urban Park Use by Older Adults with Disability. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(2), 552. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020552
- Peschardt, K. K., Schipperijn, J., & Stigsdotter, U. K. (2012). Use of Small Public Urban Green Spaces (SPUGS). Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 11(3), 235–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2012.04.002
- Peters, K., Elands, B., & Buijs, A. (2010). Social interactions in urban parks: Stimulating social cohesion? Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 9(2), 93–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2009.11.003

- Pinto, L., Ferreira, C. S. S., & Pereira, P. (2021). Environmental and socioeconomic factors influencing the use of urban green spaces in Coimbra (Portugal). *Science of The Total Environment*, 792, 148293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148293
- Polko, P., & Kimic, K. (2022a). Gender as a factor differentiating the perceptions of safety in urban parks. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, 13(3), 101608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asej.2021.09.032
- Polko, P., & Kimic, K. (2022b). Gender as a factor differentiating the perceptions of safety in urban parks. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, 13(3), 101608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asej.2021.09.032
- Pretty, J., Griffin, M., Sellens, M., & Pretty, C. (2003). Green Exercise: Complementary Roles of Nature, Exercise and Diet in Physical and Emotional Well-Being and. University of Essex CES Occasional Paper.
- Public Park | The Cultural Landscape Foundation. (2020). The Cultural Landscape Foundation, Connecting People to Places. https://www.tclf.org/category/designed-landscape-types/public-park?page=1
- Raymore, L. A. (2002). Facilitators to leisure. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 34(1), 37–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2002.11949959
- Rogatka, K., & Ribeiro, R. (2015). A compact city and its social perception: A case study. Urbani Izziv, 26, 121–131. https://doi.org/10.5379/urbani-izziv-en-2015-26-01-005
- Roovers, P., Hermy, M., & Gulinck, H. (2002). Visitor profile, perceptions and expectations in forests from a gradient of increasing urbanisation in central Belgium. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 59(3), 129–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(02)00011-7
- Rosenberg, D., Ding, D., Sallis, J. F., Kerr, J., Norman, G. J., Durant, N., Harris, S. K., & Saelens, B. E. (2009). Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale for Youth (NEWS-Y): Reliability and relationship with physical activity. *Preventive Medicine*, 49(2–3), 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.011
- Russo, A., & Cirella, G. (2018). Modern Compact Cities: How Much Greenery Do We Need? International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(10), 2180. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15102180
- Russo, A., Escobedo, F. J., Cirella, G. T., & Zerbe, S. (2017). Edible green infrastructure: An approach and review of provisioning ecosystem services and disservices in urban environments. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 242, 53–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.026
- Sallis, J. F., Cerin, E., Conway, T. L., Adams, M. A., Frank, L. D., Pratt, M., Salvo, D., Schipperijn, J., Smith, G., Cain, K. L., Davey, R., Kerr, J., Lai, P.-C., Mitáš, J., Reis, R., Sarmiento, O. L., Schofield, G., Troelsen, J., Van Dyck, D., ... Owen, N. (2016). Physical activity in relation to urban environments in 14 cities worldwide: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet*, 387(10034), 2207–2217. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01284-2
- Sallis, J. F., Cervero, R. B., Ascher, W., Henderson, K. A., Kraft, M. K., & Kerr, J. (2006). An ecological approach to creating active living communities. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 27, 297–322. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PUBLHEALTH.27.021405.102100
- Santos, T., Silva, C., Tenedório, J. A., & Montenegro Góes, T. (2021). Remote Sensing and GIS for Modelling Green Roofs Potential at Different Urban Scales (pp. 251–293). https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-2249-3.ch009
- Schipperijn, J. (2010). Use of urban green space. Forest & Landscape Research, No. 45-2010, February 2010, 155.
- Schipperijn, J., Ekholm, O., Stigsdotter, U. K., Toftager, M., Bentsen, P., Kamper-Jørgensen, F., & Randrup, T. B. (2010a). Factors influencing the use of green space: Results from a Danish national representative survey. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 95(3), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2009.12.010
- Schipperijn, J., Ekholm, O., Stigsdotter, U. K., Toftager, M., Bentsen, P., Kamper-Jørgensen, F., & Randrup, T. B. (2010b). Factors influencing the use of green space: Results from a Danish national representative survey. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 95(3), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2009.12.010
- Schipperijn, J., Stigsdotter, U. K., Randrup, T. B., & Troelsen, J. (2010). Influences on the use of urban green space A case study in Odense, Denmark. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 9(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2009.09.002
- Shams, I., & Barker, A. (2019). Barriers and opportunities of combining social and ecological functions of urban greenspaces Users' and landscape professionals' perspectives. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 39, 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2019.02.007
- Space, C. (2005). Decent parks? Decent behaviour? The link between the quality of parks and user behaviour. *The Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment, London.*
- Stafford, A. (2019, September 13). The What, Why, and How of Sankey Diagrams | by Allison Stafford | Towards Data Science. https://towardsdatascience.com/the-what-why-and-how-of-sankey-diagrams-430cbd4980b5
- Stigsdotter, U. K., Ekholm, O., Schipperijn, J., Toftager, M., Kamper-Jørgensen, F., & Randrup, T. B. (2010). Health promoting outdoor environments-Associations between green space, and health, health-related quality of life and stress based on a Danish national representative survey. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 38(4), 411–417.
- Sundevall, E. P., & Jansson, M. (2020). Inclusive Parks across Ages: Multifunction and Urban Open Space Management for Children, Adolescents, and the Elderly. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(24), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH17249357
- Takano, T., Nakamura, K., & Watanabe, M. (2002). Urban residential environments and senior citizens' longevity in megacity areas: the importance of walkable green spaces. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 56(12),

913–918.

- Taylor, L., & Hochuli, D. F. (2017). Defining greenspace: Multiple uses across multiple disciplines. Landscape and Urban Planning, 158, 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2016.09.024
- Taylor, L., Leckey, E. H., Lead, P. J., & Hochuli, D. F. (2020). What Visitors Want From Urban Parks: Diversity, Utility, Serendipity. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 0, 243. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENVS.2020.595620
- Tian, Y., Jim, C. Y., & Tao, Y. (2012a). Challenges and Strategies for Greening the Compact City of Hong Kong. Journal of Urban Planning and Development, 138(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)UP.1943-5444.0000076
- Tian, Y., Jim, C. Y., & Tao, Y. (2012b). Challenges and Strategies for Greening the Compact City of Hong Kong. Journal of Urban Planning and Development, 138(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)UP.1943-5444.0000076
- Tong, K. S. (2018). A Liveable Compact City? Local Perspectives from Hong Kong (Issue February). Utrecht University.
- Tu, X., Huang, G., Wu, J., & Guo, X. (2020). How do travel distance and park size influence urban park visits? Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 52, 126689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126689
- UN Habitat. (2017). New urban agenda. www.habitat3.org
- UN Habitat. (2020). The new urban agenda. https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210582810c013
- United Nations. (2014). World population ageing 2013. UN. https://doi.org/10.18356/30d0966c-en
- United Nations, D. of E. & S. A. (2018). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision. In *Demographic Research* (Vol. 12). United Nations. https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-Report.pdf
- Using Input/Mergin and QGIS for Field Data Collection Community Health Maps. (2019, August 26). https://www.communityhealthmaps.org/blog/2019/08/26/using-input-mergin-and-qgis-for-field-data-collection
- van Aalst, I., & Brands, J. (2021). Young people: being apart, together in an urban park. *Journal of Urbanism*, 14(1), 1– 17. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2020.1737181
- van de Haagen, H., Haccou, F., van den Berg, J., Engelen, K., & van den Berk, Z. (2013). Atlas Stadsparken Amsterdam (p. 132). Gemeente of Amsterdam. https://openresearch.amsterdam/image/2020/6/8/parken\_atlas\_30\_1\_2013\_hoge\_kwaliteit\_bundel\_1\_133.p df
- Van den Berg, A. E., Maas, J., Verheij, R. A., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2010). Green space as a buffer between stressful life events and health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(8), 1203–1210.
- Van Herzele, A., & Wiedemann, T. (2003). A monitoring tool for the provision of accessible and attractive urban green spaces. Landscape and Urban Planning, 63(2), 109–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(02)00192-5
- Van Renterghem, T., Forssén, J., Attenborough, K., Jean, P., Defrance, J., Hornikx, M., & Kang, J. (2015). Using natural means to reduce surface transport noise during propagation outdoors. *Applied Acoustics*, 92, 86–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apacoust.2015.01.004
- Van Riper, C. J., & Kyle, G. T. (2014). Understanding the internal processes of behavioral engagement in a national park: A latent variable path analysis of the value-belief-norm theory. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 38, 288– 297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2014.03.002
- Vargas-Hernández, J. G., Zdunek-Wielgołaska, J. A., & Pallaggst, K. (2020). The Role of Urban Green Spaces in the Transformation of Community Ecosystem in Developing Countries. In *Developing Eco-Cities Through Policy*, *Planning, and Innovation* (pp. 284–311). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-0441-3.ch011
- Wang, S., Wang, M., & Liu, Y. (2021). Access to urban parks: Comparing spatial accessibility measures using three GIS-based approaches. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 90, 101713. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPENVURBSYS.2021.101713
- Westerink, J., Haase, D., Bauer, A., Ravetz, J., Jarrige, F., & Aalbers, C. B. E. M. (2013). Dealing with Sustainability Trade-Offs of the Compact City in Peri-Urban Planning Across European City Regions. *European Planning Studies*, 21(4), 473–497. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2012.722927
- White, M. P., Alcock, I., Wheeler, B. W., & Depledge, M. H. (2013). Would you be happier living in a greener urban area? A fixed-effects analysis of panel data. *Psychological Science*, 24(6), 920–928. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612464659
- Whittinghill, L. J., & Rowe, D. B. (2012). The role of green roof technology in urban agriculture. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 27(4), 314–322. https://doi.org/10.1017/S174217051100038X
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2017). Urban green spaces: A brief for action. In Regional Office For Europe. http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/342289/Urban-Green-Spaces\_EN\_WHO\_web.pdf?ua=1
- Wojnowska-Heciak, M., Suchocka, M., Blaszczyk, M., & Muszyńska, M. (2022). Urban Parks as Perceived by City Residents with Mobility Difficulties: A Qualitative Study with In-Depth Interviews. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(4), 2018. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19042018
- Wolff, M., & Haase, D. (2019). Mediating Sustainability and Liveability—Turning Points of Green Space Supply in European Cities. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 7(May), 61. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2019.00061

- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research : design and methods (Book, 2009) [WorldCat.org] (4th ed., Vol. 5). Thousand Oaks, Calif. : Sage Publications, ©2009. https://www.worldcat.org/title/case-study-research-design-andmethods/oclc/354055917
- Zanon, D., Doucouliagos, C., Hall, J., & Lockstone-Binney, L. (2013). Constraints to Park Visitation: A Meta-Analysis of North American Studies. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/01490400.2013.831294*, *35*(5), 475–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2013.831294
- Zhang, Y. (2017). *How urban green spaces relate to health and well-being* [University of Groningen]. https://research.rug.nl/en/publications/how-urban-green-spaces-relate-to-health-and-well-being-the-interp

### APPENDIX

# Appendix 1



Kernal density map by gender in Oosterpark

Male centered spots



Appendix 2

6

3

# Appendix 3

Kernal density map by gender in Erasmuspark



# Appendix 4

